FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/13/2022 1:56 PM

101093-1
No. 83342-1-I

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/15/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE

THURSTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

No. 19-2-06100-34

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON FEDERATION OF STATE EMPLOYEES, *et al.*, and

WASHINGTON STATE

DEPARTMENT OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS, *et al.*,

Appellees.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE
WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Sydney Phillips, WSBA #54295
Robert A. Bouvatte, Jr., WSBA #50220
P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507
Phone (360) 956-3482; Fax (360) 352-1874
sphillips@freedomfoundation.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner, Freedom Foundation (“Petitioner” or the “Foundation”) is the Appellant at the Court of Appeals, and Defendant in the Thurston County Superior Court. The Foundation is a Washington nonprofit organization, tax-exempt pursuant to I.R.C. Section 501(c)(3), and devoted to informing public employees about their legal rights regarding union membership and dues payment obligations. The Foundation asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals’ published decision, as set forth in **Section II**, *infra*.

II. DECISIONS BELOW

The Foundation seeks review of the Court of Appeals’ published opinion *Washington Federation of State Employees, et al. v. Freedom Foundation, et al.* (“WFSE”), No. 83342-1-I (June 13, 2022) (the “Opinion” or “Op.”).¹ That Opinion found and held: (i) that public employees who are survivors, or whose immediate family members are survivors, of domestic violence,

¹ The Opinion in the Appendix being filed contemporaneously herewith is the Court’s substituted Opinion, entered following Division I’s granting of the respondent’s motion for reconsideration, on June 13, 2022.

sexual assault, stalking, or harassment have a substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity; (ii) that this constitutional right precludes the State from disclosing such individuals' name and physical work location or work contact information, when doing so presents a substantial likelihood that the employee's physical safety or the safety of that employee's family member would be in danger; and (iii) that the trial court's preliminary injunction should remain in effect – despite the Court's reversing both the summary judgment and the permanent injunction entered by the trial court following that preliminary injunction, because the record before it was insufficient to establish an individualized risk to the over 1,000 employees on whose behalf the Unions sought injunctive relief. *See Appendix, at A: 1-29.*²

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This matter merits review by the Washington State Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), as presenting significant questions of law under the Washington Constitution

² Citations to the volume and page numbers of the Appendix being filed contemporaneously with the instant Petition are in the format “Appendix, at A: ___.”

and the U.S. Constitution, and pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), as presenting important issues of substantial public interest:

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that public employees who are survivors of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or harassment have a substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity that precludes the State from disclosing their name and physical work location or work contact information, when doing so presents a substantial likelihood that the employee's physical safety or that employee's family member would be in danger?

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in issuing an advisory opinion creating a new constitutional right, based only on hypothetical harm, since no actual individuals with standing had come forward to complain of any such harm, or to present admissible evidence of such harm in their own right?

3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in conducting its analysis based upon applying the strict scrutiny standard of review, rather than the rational basis test, to the disclosure of information that the Unions contend was "private"?

4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in issuing an advisory opinion that created a new constitutional right, duplicative of protections already provided by statute in Washington, and that the Washington State Supreme Court previously declined to create in the *Washington Public Employees Association* (2019) case?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Foundation is a Washington non-profit corporation, tax-exempt pursuant to I.R.C. Section 501(c)(3), that seeks to promote individual liberty, free enterprise, and limited, accountable government. Part of this mission is accomplished by informing public employees of their constitutional rights, which requires the Foundation to first seek public records through lawful and PRA compliant record requests.

Following this Court's 2019 decision in *Washington Public Employees Association v. State of Washington, et al.*, 194 Wn.2d 484 (2019) (“*WPEA*”), the Foundation submitted a series of public record requests to state agencies, seeking specific information regarding public employees in Washington State.

The majority of the requests, save minor variations, sought the following information:

1. First name
2. Middle name
3. Last name
4. Job title
5. Full birthdate
6. Work email address
7. Employer agency/department
8. Name/title of exclusive bargaining representative/union
9. FTE status/percentage
10. Current annual salary
11. Duty station location/address

See Appendix, at A: 002.

Following the initial set of requests, between November 2019, and January 2020, the Foundation submitted similar requests to a number of agencies, seeking the names and dates of birth in addition to other work-related information of public employees. Several Unions, following the initial requests by the Foundation, filed an initial Complaint and Temporary Restraining Order, which the Superior Court granted. *See* Appendix, at A: 003-006. The Court then permitted the Unions to file seven amended complaints and additional preliminary injunctions adding numerous additional plaintiffs and defendants. *See* Appendix, at A: 003-006.

Ultimately (but only after a convoluted process in which the Unions presented no admissible evidence), the Unions sought summary judgment, declaratory judgment, and a permanent injunction – all of which the Court granted. *See* Appendix, at A: 006.

The Foundation timely filed an appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division Two. After transfer to Division One, the Court of Appeals issued its decision, coining a new constitutional right, yet determining that the Unions had not brought forth admissible evidence to warrant the grant of summary judgment or a permanent injunction. *See* Appendix, at A: 023 The Unions then filed a motion for reconsideration before the Court, requesting a preliminary injunction remain in place pending the lower court’s determinations on remand – which was granted. *See* Appendix, at A:023. This Petition follows.

V. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

A. Introduction & Summary of Argument

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court review the Opinion, because it presents significant questions of law under the Washington State Constitution and the U.S. Constitution, and

because this case involves issues of substantial public interest that the highest court of this state should determine. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3), (b)(4).

It is immediately apparent that the Opinion below presents a momentous question of law under the Washington Constitution and the U.S. Constitution. To wit, Division One was the first court in the history of Washington State to determine that public employees who are (or even have family members who are) survivors of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or harassment have a substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity, finding this right implicit under Article I, Section 3 of the Washington Constitution and under the Fourteenth Amendment, as a matter of “personal security and bodily integrity.” *See* Appendix, at A: 002. The Court did not stop there, however; it went on to state that this fundamental right precludes the State from disclosing the names, physical work location, and work contact information of public employees, at least when doing so presents a substantial likelihood that the employee’s physical safety or the safety of that employee’s family member would be in danger. *See* Appendix, at A: 002.

Division One recognized, without any foundation in precedent, the “state created danger doctrine” as a basis to preclude disclosure of records under the PRA – even though there was no “individual” to speak of before it, complaining of this danger arising by the production of information as required by law. *See* Appendix, at A: 009 (“Under this doctrine, government actors may be held liable for failing to protect individuals from dangers they create or enhance.”) (emphasis added) (*citing DeShaney v. Winnebago County Dept. of Social Serv.*, 489 U.S. 189, 197 (1989); *Irish v. Fowler*, 979 F.3d 65, 73 (1st Cir. 2020)). But it is not for courts to create new exceptions to the PRA, particularly not upon hypothetical facts or the law of other jurisdictions.

Indeed, not a single individual claimed to be at risk of harm from the Foundation’s public record requests, or from the disclosure of any information about public employees. The Court below rightfully reversed the Superior Court’s summary judgment and its permanent injunction, as there was no admissible evidence put forward by the Unions, and the record before the trial court remains insufficient to establish an

individualized risk of bodily harm to the over 1,000 employees on whose behalf the Unions sought injunctive relief.

As a result, it was inappropriate for Division One to issue an advisory opinion predicated upon rights which the parties before them did not have standing to assert. Specifically, the Unions purported to protect the rights of individual members, rather than any of the more than 1,000 individuals who purportedly risked serious bodily harm, but lacked standing to seek relief. Review by this Court is appropriate to determine the appropriateness of Division One's opinion opining on constitutional rights and doctrines which the Plaintiffs below did not properly raise, and which the Court of Appeals itself felt insufficiently supported to justify the relief awarded below.

The Court of Appeals' decision also raises issues of substantial public interest, as it purports to create an entirely new basis for public records to be withheld in Washington, whereas there are already protections for these individuals through the Address Confidentiality Program, Chapter 40.24 RCW, *et seq.* For this reason, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Decision Below

The Court of Appeals decided below that public employees who are survivors (or whose immediate family members are survivors) of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or harassment have a substantive due process right under Article I, Section 3 of the state Constitution, and the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, to “personal security and bodily integrity.” Appendix, at A: 002. This substantive due process right, it held, precludes the state from disclosing the names, physical work location, or work contact information, when doing so presents a substantial likelihood that the employee’s physical safety or the safety of that employee’s family member would be in danger. Appendix, at A: 002.

The Court proceeded to find that this was a justiciable controversy under the UDJA, chapter 7.24 RCW, even though the plaintiffs were nearly fifty (50) labor unions, and not a single public employee. Appendix, at A: 010-011. The court haphazardly conjoined the Unions with public employees for purposes of the question of justiciability, despite not a single public employee presenting competent evidence, which the

Court subsequently acknowledged when determining that the Unions had not presented a sufficient basis for summary judgment – the only evidence presented was anecdotal, inadmissible, hearsay, incapable of supporting any relief. Appendix, at A: 014 - 019.

C. The Court of Appeals’ Incorrectly Determined That This Was a Justiciable Controversy

“Before a court will act under the [UDJA] [...] the plaintiff must demonstrate the existence of a justiciable controversy. [...] The justiciability of a claim is a question of law that we review de novo.” *American Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of Bellingham*, 163 Wn. App. 427, 432 (2011); *see also Eyman v. Ferguson*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 312, 319 (2019). Despite the Court of Appeals ignoring the question of whether the Unions had standing, there is no justiciable controversy. *See* Appendix, at A: 014.

It is well-settled in Washington law that justiciability only permits a party to bring an action if he will be directly damaged in person or property; if the action is adversarial in character and involves a present and actual controversy between the parties, as opposed to a possible or potential controversy, it is justiciable. *De Cano v. State*, 7 Wn.2d 613, 616 (1941). Washington courts

have consistently denied declaratory relief in instances where the harm alleged is speculative and left to conjecture or “unpredictable contingency,” recognizing these opinions to be advisory in nature. *See Diversified Industries Development Corp. v. Ripley*, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815 (1973). As recognized universally, it is not the role of a court to exercise its extraordinary equitable powers for the protection of speculative concerns, or for the benefit of those who have not presented to the court. *See To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411 (2001) (“In sum, the four justiciability factors must ‘coalesce’ to ensure that the court will be rendering a final judgment on an actual dispute between opposing parties with a genuine stake in the resolution.”) (citation omitted).

While the Court of Appeals recognized that there was nothing more than abstract, statistical evidence presented by the Unions, its curious reliance on that same evidence to find a novel constitutional right was error. *See Appendix*, at A: 017-018 (“The survivors’ stories, while compelling, are in fact, inadmissible hearsay when recounted by union leaders with no personal knowledge of the survivors’ experiences...The record

lacks any basis to find that any specific public employee would be in actual jeopardy of physical harm if their employer released their identity and location information.”); *compare to* Appendix, at A: 011 (“And the protected public employees’ interests are direct and substantial...This evidence demonstrates that threat of harm to protected employees is far more than hypothetical or speculative.”). In their haste to recognize a new liberty interest, the courts below uncritically accepted the Unions as a vessel. But the only parties who could make a case for “personal security or bodily integrity” have never come forward – and likely never will, because their existence has simply been extrapolated from generalized statistics. *See* Appendix, at A: 014-019.

At the threshold, the Unions are not living persons able to raise a threat to “personal security and bodily integrity” under the Washington State Constitution or the U.S. Constitution, but mere legal entities as a matter of law. Accordingly, the courts below conflated the Union and the unidentified, unknown individuals, in finding an actual controversy existed between the parties. *See* Appendix, at A: 014-019. This was in error, because the Unions brought nothing more than an abstract set of facts before the trial

court, and did not have the necessary standing to bring these claims; they would not be directly impacted by disclosure. *See e.g., Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802 (2004) (“This statutory right is clarified by the common law doctrine of standing, which prohibits a litigant from raising another’s legal right.”) (emphasis added).

This case is not ripe (and may never be so), for the simple fact that *the Unions* do not have the standing to assert any constitutional claims for “personal security or bodily integrity” against the Foundation. *See City of Seattle v. Long*, 61 Wn.2d 737, 740-41 (1963). The Unions’ “general dissatisfaction” with the result of disclosing records does not mean they can interject theoretical concerns they believe some employee, somewhere, may someday have – the Unions cannot challenge the validity of the release of the records that are not peculiar and personal to them, as entities. *See To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 412 (“To the extent that To-Ro contended that the licensing statute had an adverse financial impact beyond the alleged harm from the Lake City RV closure, To-Ro failed to show that its interests were

direct and substantial, rather than contingent and inconsequential.”) (emphasis added).

For similar reasons, the Unions lack representational or associational standing to assert a right to relief. The Unions have no *legal* interest in the information itself in these public records, or whether the PRA exempts it as private. The only interest that they have is in the *practical* effect of non-disclosure: the Foundation informs public employees of constitutional rights that are potentially adverse to the Unions, as their exercise of those rights can result in the Unions’ loss of members and dues. This does not translate to “representational standing” or “associational standing” on the part of Unions, to vindicate novel constitutional rights that are particular to the person (not the employee) and have no necessary connection to labor unions’ typical functions. *See IAFF, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 103 Wn. App. 764, 768 (2000) (“An association such as [a] Union has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members if it satisfies three elements: (1) the members would have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests the association seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor

the relief requested requires the participation of the individual members of the lawsuit.”) (emphasis added.³ The opinion below was wholly advisory, and should be vacated by this Court.

D. Rational Basis Is the Appropriate Test, Not Strict Scrutiny, Because No Fundamental Right Is Involved

This Court has stated that the interest in nondisclosure of personal information is tested using the rational basis balancing test, and not strict scrutiny as the Unions contended and the courts below agreed. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 504-05; *see also* App. A: 010. The rational basis test, applied as such, establishes that disclosure of intimate information is permissible if it is carefully tailored to meet a valid governmental interest, providing that the disclosure is no greater than reasonably necessary. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 505. The Unions here have consistently argued that the court should apply a strict scrutiny standard to the State’s interest in disclosing information called

³ Even if the pursuit of generalized safety concerns could be considered within the auspices of a labor union (a highly dubious proposition in itself), an action such as this fails the test for associational standing because it requires the participation of individual members and the presentation of individualized proofs, for reasons the Court of Appeals made clear in reversing the summary judgment and permanent injunction.

for by a PRA request. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals accepted these arguments, and thus erred. App. A: 010; 012. But the courts below could decide this case upon strict scrutiny only by “recognizing” a fundamental constitutional right where none exists, under the Washington Constitution and the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. *See* Appendix, at A: 010; 012.

The Court of Appeals is mistaken under Washington law, by virtue of the *WPEA* decision, and cannot rely upon the vagaries of Art. I, Section 3 of the state Constitution, in contravention of how the state Supreme Court has interpreted the specific rights in Art. I, Section 7. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 504.⁴ The Opinion is incorrect as a matter of federal law as well, for reasons acknowledged in the U.S. Supreme Court’s recent opinion in *Dobbs v. Jackson Women’s Health Organization*,

⁴ “We have identified two constitutional interests protected by this right to privacy: the right to autonomous decision-making and the right to nondisclosure of personal information or confidentiality... Recognized as a fundamental right, the autonomy interest confers heightened constitutional protection... This fundamental right is not at issue here. The interest in confidentiality, or nondisclosure of personal information, has never been recognized by this court as a fundamental right.”

which heralds a return to a much more limited notion of substantive due process jurisprudence. *See Dobbs v. Jackson Women’s Health Organization*, S. Ct. ____, 2022 WL 2276808, at *7 (Jun. 24, 2022) (slip op.). There is simply no fundamental, constitutional right to “personal security and bodily integrity” in the State of Washington, implicit or otherwise.

The Court should grant discretionary review, if only to determine that no fundamental right is at issue here, as it is the only Court empowered to answer the question for the State of Washington. *See id.*, at *11 (“The Court must not fall prey to such an unprincipled approach. Instead, guided by the history and tradition that map the essential components of our Nation’s concept of ordered liberty, we must ask what the *Fourteenth Amendment* means by the term ‘liberty.’”) (emphasis in original). The Court should accept review and hold that the Washington Constitution enumerates those rights considered “fundamental.”

Washington courts have long applied the rational basis analysis to questions involving the public disclosure of personal or confidential matters, as a result of the absence of any fundamental right, of privacy or otherwise. *WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at

507. Here, there is even a question as to whether any of the information that the Unions are attempting to prevent from being released rises to the level of “personal or confidential,” given that it pertains only to employees’ work information, not their personal lives. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 497. But assuming *arguendo* that it does, rational basis must be the applicable standard. *See id.*, at 507.

The requested records do not involve or represent a direct government intrusion into a person’s home, effects, or other private affairs, especially since a majority of the requested information is specifically only in relation to public employees’ jobs. Nor is the right to “autonomy” implicated by the government’s disclosure of information that may, in extraordinary circumstances, cause a *third-party* criminal actor to interfere with one’s “personal security and bodily integrity.” *See O’Hartigan v. Dept. of Pers.*, 118 Wn.2d 111, 117 (1991) (“This right [of autonomy] involves issues related to marriage, procreation, family relationships, child rearing and education.”). The concerns of public employee safety and security, while valid, are insufficient to override the policy goals of the PRA or

to empower the Court of Appeals to sit as a Legislature in weighing those goals. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 501. To the extent that disclosure of information “creates” any danger at all, it is not a particularized threat to any individual,⁵ and compliance with the PRA cannot be considered “highly culpable” or “deliberately indifferent” – all of which are necessary predicates for application of the state-created danger doctrine, in those jurisdictions that recognize it. *See Irish*, 979 F.3d at 73-74 (“The circuits that recognize the doctrine uniformly require that the defendant affirmatively acted to create or exacerbate a danger to a specific individual or class of people...Each circuit requires that the defendant’s acts be highly culpable and go beyond mere negligence.”) (emphasis added); *Kennedy v. City of Ridgefield*, 439 F.3d 1055, 1061 (9th Cir. 2006); *Kallstrom v. City of Columbus*, 136 F.3d 1055, 1066 (6th Cir. 1998) (“Liability under the state-created danger theory is predicated upon affirmative

⁵ *See DeShaney*, 489 U.S. at 198 (“It is true that in certain limited circumstances the Constitution imposes upon the State affirmative duties of care and protection with respect to particular individuals.”) (emphasis added).

acts by the state which either create or increase the risk that an individual will be exposed to acts of private violence.”).

To the contrary, disclosure of this information to the Foundation is *required* of state actors and serves important interests, including the paramount interest of informing the citizens of their public servants’ dealings, so that the people of this State may remain informed about their government. *See* RCW 42.56.030. It cannot be called a “state-created danger.”

Furthermore, the records requested by the Foundation are no greater than reasonably necessary to be informed of the individuals who work as public employees within the state of Washington. It is entirely unclear how the fundamental interest in “personal security and bodily integrity” is impacted, when the requests do not seek disclosure of home addresses. Insofar as disclosure implicates such a right at all, it is a limitation that employees must accept upon undertaking public employment and subjecting themselves to public scrutiny.

E. The Advisory Opinion Was Unnecessary to Preserve the *Status Quo*, As Statutory Protections Existed

The Court of Appeals seemed to believe that maintenance of the trial court’s injunction was necessary to prevent harm to

individuals while the trial court considers any properly brought request to enjoin or limit disclosure as to such individuals. *See* Appendix, at A: 023. But the Washington State Legislature had already provided the appropriate means to protect the release of information for those citizens in Washington who are the survivors of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, and harassment, including their work address. The Legislature provides as such through the Address Confidentiality Program, Chapter 40.24 RCW, *et seq.*, which states that

The purpose of this chapter is to enable state and local agencies to respond to requests for public records without disclosing the location of a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, trafficking, or stalking, to enable interagency cooperation with the secretary of state in providing address confidentiality for victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, trafficking, or stalking, and to enable state and local agencies to accept a program participant's use of an address designated by the secretary of state as a substitute mailing address.

RCW 40.24.010 (emphasis added).

The ACP specifically provides participants with a state mailing address in lieu of their home and work addresses, for purposes of compliance with PRA requests. *See* RCW 40.24.020(10), 40.24.050. All individuals who qualify for and

participate in the ACP are protected from their home and work addresses being disclosed under the PRA to their assailant or to anyone else who may wish to do them harm – as is the explicitly-stated purpose of the statute.

The ACP was expressly designed to protect information (such as home address) that is personal and a cause for concern, due to a *specific* threat of danger to many citizens of Washington who are also the victim of some other severe form of abuse. *See* ch. 40.24, RCW. The ACP is not a secret and has been available in some form to the citizens of the state since 1991. If there needs to be a more robust manner for protecting information of public employees who are also survivors of crimes against the person, that is a decision for the Washington State Legislature to make, not the courts of this State.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Foundation respectfully requests that this Court grant the petition for discretionary review, to correct the profound error that is the Court of Appeals' advisory opinion. The Unions have not provided any additional evidence, nor have any individuals come forward to assert the constitutional rights that the Court of

Appeals needlessly, and erroneously, recognized. *See WPEA*, 194 Wn.2d at 493 (reviewing courts should not pass upon constitutional issues “unless absolutely necessary to the determination of the case.”). On the facts presented below, the existence of any fundamental constitutional right was an entirely academic question.

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals was also in error for relying upon the incorrect level of scrutiny for release of the public records because there is no fundamental right at issue, of “personal security,” “bodily integrity,” or otherwise. The Foundation respectfully requests that this Court grant review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, and permit disclosure of the requested records to the Foundation.