FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/26/2022 3:38 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101093-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON FEDERATION OF STATE EMPLOYEES, et al., and STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents.

STATE RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Kate S. Worthington WSBA No. 47556 Assistant Attorney General

Susan Sackett DanPullo WSBA No. 24249 Senior Counsel

Shawn Horlacher WSBA No. 45064 Assistant Attorney General David Moon WSBA No. 54546

Assistant Attorney General Evelyn Fielding Lopez

I. INTRODUCTION

State Respondents are committed to honoring the Public Records Act's broad mandate favoring disclosure while also protecting the rights of public employees. This case presents an intersection of, on the one hand, the public interest in disclosure of public records and, on the other hand, the scope of the constitutional rights of state employees and the public policy of protecting survivors from domestic violence. The Court of Appeals articulated a framework to balance these competing interests.

While this case undeniably involves questions of constitutional law and issues of public interest, State Respondents take no position as to whether the specific issues in this case are sufficiently "significant" or "substantial" to satisfy RAP 13.4(b), and, if so, whether this Court should exercise its discretion to grant review. However this Court proceeds, State Respondents remain prepared to release the requested records if the injunction is lifted or if otherwise directed to do so by this Court.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether public employees who are survivors, or whose immediate family members are survivors, of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or harassment, have a substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity pursuant to article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- B. Whether survivors' substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity precludes the State from disclosing certain employee information in response to a public record request, when such disclosure presents a substantial likelihood that the employee's physical safety or the safety of that employee's family member would be in danger.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2019, the Freedom Foundation (the Foundation) sent public record requests to various state and local public entities, including the Office of Financial Management (OFM), the Department of Retirement Systems (DRS), and other state agencies (collectively, State Respondents). *Washington Fed. of State Emp., Council, 28 (WFSE) v. State,* 511 P.3d 119, 125-26 (2022); CP 13, 16. The Foundation requested several pieces of information about public employees, including full name, full birthdate, job title, work e-mail address, employer, and

duty station location/address. *Id.* OFM, DRS, and other State Respondents that received similar requests for information provided notice to affected employees of the intention to release the requested records unless enjoined. CP 1-23, 143. Thereafter, several labor organizations (the Unions) filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, asserting that the release of the requested information would violate the constitutional rights of survivors of domestic violence, stalking, and sexual assault, making the requested information exempt under RCW 42.56.070(1). *WFSE*, 511 P.3d at 126; CP 1-23.

The Unions obtained an initial temporary restraining order and then a preliminary injunction. *WFSE*, 511 P.3d at 126. The preliminary injunction included a finding that the Unions, State Respondents, and local public entities needed time to identify public employees who were entitled to protection from the release of their information, referred to as "protected employees." CP 528-29.

Over the next several months, the Foundation sent public record requests seeking the same information covered by the preliminary injunction to hundreds more public entities not yet parties to the litigation. *WFSE*, 511 P.3d at 126. The Unions filed amended complaints adding more unions as plaintiffs and additional named defendants, and the trial court extended the preliminary injunction to cover them. *Id*.

As the litigation progressed, the Unions and public entities worked to identify "protected employees" through the process put in place by the trial court in its Order Granting Preliminary Injunction (Order). *See* CP 525-31. The Order listed specific documentation¹, such as police reports, court orders, and written statements that would identify survivors as "protected employees." CP 529-30. State Respondents provided status reports to the trial court listing the number of "protected

¹ The trial court's Order reflects language found in the Domestic Violence Leave Act, specifically RCW 49.76.040(4).

employees" identified in each state agency. CP 1869-91, 4788-812, 4908-29, 5474-94, 5512-32.

Once the process of identifying "protected employees" was complete, the Unions moved for summary judgment and a permanent injunction, both of which the trial court granted. *WFSE*, 511 P.3d at 127; CP 5580-614, 6395-401, 6504-511. The trial court concluded that the disclosure of names, birthdates, bargaining unit indicator, duty station/location and work e-mail of survivors would violate their constitutional rights and RCW 42.56.070(1), and permanently enjoined disclosure of this information for survivors. *WFSE*, 511 P.3d at 127.

The Foundation appealed the preliminary injunction, the orders extending the preliminary injunction, the order granting summary judgment, and the permanent injunction. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals rejected the Foundation's contention that no public employee has a constitutional right to prevent the State from disclosing the requested information under the Public Records Act (PRA), holding that "public employees who are

survivors, or whose immediate family members are survivors, of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or harassment have a substantive due process right to personal security and bodily integrity." *Id.* at 125.

Noting that the PRA yields to constitutional mandates, the Court of Appeals found that survivors' constitutional right to personal security and bodily integrity under article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution precluded the State from disclosing information about their employment and location "when doing so presents a substantial likelihood that that the employee's physical safety or the safety of that employee's family member would be in danger." *Id.* at 125, 128-30.

The Court of Appeals explained that a "right to privacy arising under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution," was not at issue because the Unions were seeking "to protect the lives or physical safety of their members, not their right to keep information private." *Id.* at 129.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment and permanent injunction, remanding for proceedings consistent with its opinion. *Id.* at 134. The Court of Appeals also ordered the trial court's preliminary injunction remain in effect until "the trial court resolves any outstanding factual or legal issues, or rules otherwise." *Id.*

The Foundation's Petition for Review followed.

IV. ARGUMENT

This case undeniably involves a constitutional question related to the scope and applicability of substantive due process guarantees. This case also implicates the strong public policy in favor of disclosure of public records, *see* RCW 42.56.030, and Washington's "clear public policy of protecting domestic violence survivors and their children." *Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 200, 221, 193 P.3d 128 (2008).

State Respondents find no conflict between the decision below and a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, but take no position as to whether review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). Should this Court accept review, State Respondents may exercise their option under RAP 13.7 to file a supplemental brief on the merits. However this Court proceeds, State Respondents remain prepared to release the requested records if the injunction is lifted or if otherwise directed to do so by this Court.

V. CONCLUSION

State Respondents do not take a position as to whether this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision. Should this Court accept review, State Respondents may exercise their option to file a supplemental brief on the merits. State Respondents remain prepared to produce the requested records if the injunction is lifted or if otherwise directed to do so by this Court.